



Master's Thesis

Molecular cloning of glucosyl-

transferase from

Citrus reticulata cv. Siranui

[(Citrus unshiu X Citrus sinensis) X Citrus

reticulate]

SongI Han

Department of Biotechnology

GRADUATE SCHOOL

JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

July, 2012

한라봉으로부터

글루코실트랜스퍼레이즈의 분자 클로닝

지도교수 김 재 훈

한 송 이

이 논문을 이학 석사학위 논문으로 제출함

2012년 7월

한송이의 이학 석사학위 논문을 인준함



제주대학교 대학원

2012 년 7 월

Molecular cloning of glucosyltransferase from Citrus

reticulata cv. Siranui

[(Citrus unshiu X Citrus sinensis) X Citrus

reticulate]

Song-i Han

(Supervised by Professor Jae Hoon Kim)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement

For the degree of Master of Science

July, 2012

This thesis has been examined and approved.

Chairperson of the supervising committee

Professor Key-Zung Riu, Ph.D., College of Applied Life Sciences, Jeju National University

Professor So Mi K. Cho, Ph.D., College of Applied Life Sciences, Jeju National University

Professor Jae Hoon Kim, Ph.D., College of Applied Life Sciences, Jeju National University

Department of Biotechnology



GRADUATE SCHOOL

JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY



CONTENTS

CONTENTSi
LIST OF FIGURESiii
LIST OF TABLESv
ABSTRACT1
1. INTRODUCTION2
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1. Plant materials5
2.2. Total RNA extraction5
2.3. First-strand cDNA synthesis
2.4. Primer design
2.5. Plasmid cloning and nucleotide sequence analysis of GT gene
2.6. Comparison of the amino acid sequence and phylogenetic analysis9
2.7. Expression and biotransformation of glucosyltransferases9
2.8. Analysis of flavonoids with high performance liquid chromatography
(HPLC)10
3. RESULTS11
3.1. Total RNA extraction of GT11
3.2. cDNA cloning and phylogenetic analysis of GT12
3.3. Expression of the GST-GT fusion protein17
3.4. Biotransformation kinetics of naringenin and quercetin with GT20
4. CONCLUSION



5. REFERENCES	
SUPPLIMENTARY DATA	40
ABSTRACT IN KOREAN	45
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	46



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. General skeletal of flavonoid

Figure 2. Structure of naringenin and quercetin

Figure 3. Formaldehyde gel electrophoresis of Citrus total RNA

Figure 4. The results of agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR products

Figure 5. Alignments of the deduced amino acid sequences of GT genes isolated from Citrus

Figure 6. PSPG-box consensus sequence of plant secondary product glucosyltransferases

Figure 7. Phylogenetic analysis of family GT

Figure 8. Expression of CiGT1 fusion protein at different IPTG concentration

Figure 9. Expression of CiGT1 fusion protein at different temperature and time

Figure 10. Expression of GT285 recombinant protein

Figure 11. HPLC analysis of GT285 with naringenin and quercetin

Figure 12. Expression of GT173 recombinant protein



Figure 13. HPLC analysis of GT173 with naringenin and quercetin

Figure 14. Expression of GT3363 recombinant protein

Figure 15. HPLC analysis of GT3363 with naringenin and quercetin

Figure 16. Expression of GT2282 recombinant protein

Figure 17. HPLC analysis of GT2282 with naringenin and quercetin

Figure 18. Expression of GT3591 recombinant protein

Figure 19. HPLC analysis of GT3591 with naringenin and quercetin

Figure 20. Expression of GT259 recombinant protein

Figure 21. HPLC analysis of GT259 with naringenin and quercetin



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. The primers of ten glucosyltransferases

Table 2. Absorbance measurement of total RNA samples

Table 3. Each GT genes of nucleic acid and amino acid size, respectively

Table 4. Predicted recombinant proteins weight of GT genes



ABSTRACT

The glycosylation of flavonoids is an essential modification contributing to the complexity of secondary metabolites and is often the last step in the biosynthesis of natural compound, affecting water solubility and stability of flavonoids. Glucosyltransferase (GT) are member of glycosyltransferases and transfer glucose to an acceptor molecule.

In this study, ten novel GT genes were cloned and characterized from *Citrus reticulata* cv. Siranui. These genes are named as *GT150*, *GT1669*, *GT259*, *GT285*, *GT173*, *GT2282*, *GT3363*, *GT3591*, *CiGT1*, and *CiGT2*, respectively. Eight GT genes (*GT150*, *GT1669*, *GT259*, *GT285*, *GT173*, *GT2282*, *GT3363*, and *GT3591*) were amplified from first-strand cDNA that synthesized from total RNA of *C. reticulata* leaves by using Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) with gene specific primers. *CiGT1* and *CiGT2* gene were amplified by using reverse transcription (RT) - PCR with gene specific primers. The full-length GT cDNAs were cloned and expressed as glutathione S-transferase fusion proteins, and then, their activities were assayed with naringenin and quercetin, which are typical substrates for the enzyme producing flavonoid 7-O-glucoside and flavonoid 3-O- glucoside, respectively.

Based on HPLC analysis, *GT173*, *GT285*, and *GT3363* gene products showed GT activities on naringenin and quercetin, demonstrating these genes were both related flavonoid 7-O-glucoside and flavonoid 3-O- glucoside. Compared to *GT285* and *GT3363*, *GT173* showed only a detectable activity on naringenin.

GT2282 and *GT3591* were determined to glucosylate naringenin, producing its 7-O-glucoside. Interestingly, *GT259* can glucosylate quercetin but its modification was not 3-O site, suggesting the other site could be glucosylated. On the other hand, *GT150*, *GT1669*, *CiGT1*, and *CiGT2* did not transfer glucose to two flavonoid substrates in this study. For these four genes, further study need to identify their substrate.





1. INTRODUCTION

All plants contain secondary metabolites including flavonoids, alkaloids and terpenoids [Wink M, 1999]. Flavonoids have general skeletal representation with 2 aromatic rings and low molecule weight secondary metabolites. Figure 1 shows that general skeletal representation of flavonoids [Lazarus and Schmit, 2000].



Figure 1. General skeletal of flavonoid [Lazarus and Schmit, 2000]

Flavonoids are unlike primary metabolites, which are not essential for plant survival. Generally, flavonoids do not participate in primary biochemical activities such as growth, development, and reproduction [Sarkar et al., 2007]. Nevertheless, flavonoids play an important roles acting as feeding deterrents, UV protections, pollinator attractants, growth regulators, and pigments for flower coloration [Harbone, 1976; Mori et al., 1987; Broillard and Dangles, 1993]. Flavanones serve in specific plant life cycles by imparting different taste properties, and play a key role of anti cancer in human. For example, naringenin found in grapefruit, sour oranges, and lemon that affect bitter taste of these fruit. In human, quercetin plays a role of antioxidation, anti-tumor of breast, and reduction in blood pressure (Fiugre2) [Michael W. King, 2011].







Figure 2. Structure of (A) naringenin and (B) quercetin [supplementary science]

Glycosylation refers to the enzymatic process that attaches glycoside to proteins or other organic molecules. This modification is a common modification reaction in plant metabolism and is the last step in the biosynthesis of natural compounds. Glycosylation donor molecule is often an activated nucleotide sugar. The glycosylation of flavonoids affects their water solubility that improves stability and bioavailability [Sayaka et al., 2009].

Glucosyltransferase (GT) are enzymes that transfer glucose to an acceptor molecule. GT share a conserved region called plant secondary product glucosyltransferase (PSPG) box. This box consists of 44 amino acid residue close to C-terminal region of the protein [Vogt and Jones, 2000; Joe Ross (2001); Tian et al., 2006; Hughes and Hughes, 1994]. Over 12,000 sequences encoding GT in many different organisms have collected (http://afmb.cnrs-mrs.fr/ CAZY) [Kim et al, 2006 A; Claire et al, 2005]. These sequences classified into 77 families through biochemical studies of their gene products or through sequence homology comparison to the genes encoding enzymes of known catalytic activity [Lim, 2005]. Many flavonoid GT have been isolated from different sources and biochemically characterized. These enzymes act on different classes of flavonoids at different positions including the 3, and 7-OH groups. GT tend to be specific as to flavonoid class, sugar to be transferred, and position for substrates [Moraga et al, 2009; Patrik et al, 2003; Daniel et al, 2009; Goro et al, 2003], which give plants their characteristic feature [McIntosh, 1990; Heller and Forkmann, 1993].





Citrus is one of the most important fruit plant in the world for fruits and other products, such as juice, soap, cosmetics, etc. Citrus species are much interest because they accumulate large amounts of flavanone glycosides, whose aglycons are early intermediates in the flavonoid biosynthetic pathway [Castillo, 1991].

In this study were carried out cloning and characterization of their enzymatic activity of ten novel putative GT, *GT150, GT1669, GT259, GT285, GT173, GT2282, GT3363, GT3591, CiGT1,* and *CiGT2,* from *Citrus reticulata* cv. Siranui.



2. MATERIALS & METHODS

2.1. Plant materials

Citrus reticulata cv. Siranui [(*Citrus unshiu* X *Citrus sinensis*) X *Citrus reticulata*] was obtained from Citrus Research Station, National Institute of Horticultural & Herbal Science, Rural Development Administration, Jeju 697-943, Korea

2.2. Total RNA extraction

Four of citrus tissues were collected from the greenhouse in the Citrus Research Station, National Institute of Horticultural & Herbal Science and were kept on liquid nitrogen to carry them to the laboratory. Frozen citrus tissues were ground to a fine powder quickly and completely using a mortar and pestle with liquid nitrogen. Total RNAs were extracted from flowers, young fruits, stems, and leaves by using PureLink RNA mini kit (Invitrogen. USA). The total RNA quality and concentration were assessed using an Ultraspec 2100 Pro UV/Vis spectrophotometer (Amersham Biosciences, UK) and by formaldehyde denaturing agarose gel electrophoresis.

2.3. First-strand cDNA synthesis

First-strand cDNA from total RNA of Citrus leaves was synthesized according to the protocol of In-Fusion® SMARTerTM Directional cDNA Library Construction Kit (Clontech, USA): 2 μg of Total RNA sample, and 3' In-Fusion SMATer CDS primer (3' CDS primer: 5'-CGGGGTACGATGAGACACCAd(T)20VN-3' (N=A, G, C, or T; V=A, G, or C) were



incubated at 72°C for 3 min and 42°C for 2 min. After incubation for short time on ice, 5 X First-Strand Buffer, 0.1 M DTT, 10 mM dNTP Mix, SMARTer V Oligonucleotide (5'-AAGCAGTGGTATCAACGCAGAGTGGTACXXXX-3'), 10 units of RNase Inhibitor and 100 units of SMARTScriptTM Reverse Transcriptase were added and incubated at 42°C for 1 hr 30 min and terminated at 68°C for 10 min. The first-strand reaction product was diluted to 15 µl with TE buffer (10 mM Tris [pH 8.0], 0.1 mM EDTA).

2.4. Primer design

Among 150 GT sequences of the *C. platymamma* Hort. ex. Tanaka (Byungkyool) genomic DNA library data in our laboratory, eight gene sequences were chosen based on the highest conserved region within the PSPG (Plant Secondary Product Glucosyltransferase) box. *CiGT1* and *CiGT2* gene sequences were predicted on the basis of EST sequences of NCBI and Citrus Genetic Resources Bank, Korea.

Primer sequences used for amplifying target gene were as follows Table 1.



Primer name	Sequence
GT150-BamHI-5	GCG C <u>GG ATC C</u> AT GGA AGA CAA GAA ACT TCA CAT A
GT150-XhoI-3	CGC CGC <u>CTC GAG</u> TCA CAT GAG ATC AGC CAG GCT ATG
GT1669-BamHI-5	GCG C <u>GG ATC C</u> AT GGC TCA CGG CCA CAT GAT TCC A
GT1669-XhoI-3	CGC CGC <u>CTC GAG</u> TTA GCT GCT TTG ATG GCG ACT TAA
GT259- <i>Eco</i> RI-5	CCG G <u>GA ATT C</u> AT GTC GAG CTC TAA CAC CAG AAC C
GT259-XhoI-3	CGC CGC <u>CTC GAG</u> TCA TTT CGC ATG AAG ATT TCT CAA
GT285-BamHI-5	GCG C <u>GG ATC C</u> AT GCC GCC GGC CGG CGC TCA TAT T
GT285-XhoI-3	CGC CGC <u>CTC GAG</u> TCA AAC TGC TGT CAA ATT TTT TCC
GT173-BamHI-5	GCG C <u>GG ATC C</u> AT GTC AGA AGC AGC CGG AAG CAC C
GT173-XhoI-3	CGC CGC <u>CTC GAG</u> TCA AGT CCT GTT GAC AAC TTC AAC
GT2282-BamHI-5	GCG C <u>GG ATC C</u> AT GGC ATC CGA AGC CAG CCA GTC A
GT2282-XhoI-3	CGC CGC <u>CTC GAG</u> TCA CTT CTG AGG TTG GCC ATG GAA
GT3363-BamHI-5	GCG C <u>GG ATC C</u> AT GGC TTC TGA AGG GAG ATG CCA G
GT3363-XhoI-3	CGC CGC <u>CTC GAG</u> TCA GGC GTT ATC TAT ATG TTG GTG
GT3591-BamHI-5	GCG C <u>GG ATC C</u> AT GGC ATC CGA AGC CAG CGA GTT T
GT3591-XhoI-3	CGC CGC <u>CTC GAG</u> TTA CAT CAC TTC TGA GGT CGG CTG
CiGT1-EcoRI-5	CG <u>G AAT TC</u> A TGG AGA AGC AGA TCA TGT TC
CiGT1-XhoI-3	CC <u>C TCG AG</u> T CAG CAA TTT TGT GGT TGT GAG C
CiGT2-BamHI-5	CG <u>G GAT CC</u> A TGG AGC AGC AAC AGC AAC CC
CiGT2-XhoI-3	CC <u>C TCG AG</u> T TAG GGT CGT TTT TCT CTA CT

Table 1. The primers of ten glucosyltransferases

Each underline was indicated enzyme site



2.5. Plasmid cloning and nucleotide sequence analysis of GT gene

PCR was performed with 1 μ l first-strand cDNA and np*fu*-special DNA polymerase (Enzynomics, Korea) under the following condition : 95°C for 2 min, followed by 35 cycles of 95°C for 30 sec, 52°C for 1 min, and 72°C 1 min 30 sec and finally, 72°C for 10 min. 5 μ l of each PCR products were separated on 1.0% agarose gel and stained with Safeview (Applied Biological Materials, Canada). The PCR products were extracted from agarose gel using GeneAll^R ExpinTM combo GP (Geneall, Korea).

The *CiGT1* and *GT259* were digested using *Eco*RI and *Xho*I enzyme (Takara, Japan), and rest of the GT were digested using *Bam*HI and *Xho*I enzyme, respectively and incubated at 37°C for 2 h followed by purification with GeneAll^R ExpinTM combo GP (Geneall. Korea). The purified DNA was finally dissolved in 30 μ l of deionized H₂O. 2 μ l it was run on 1.0% agarose/EtBr gel alongside 5 μ l of 1 Kb⁺ DNA size marker (Enzynomics, Korea) at 100 V for 40 min.

The pGEX 4T-1 and pGEX 4T-3 (GE Healthcare, UK), a glutathione S-transferase (GST) gene expression system vector, were digested with *Eco*RI and *XhoI*, *Bam*HI and *XhoI*, respectively. And they were ligated with digested DNA fragments at a ratio of 5:1 using DNA Ligation Kit </br>

DNA Ligation Kit
Mighty Mix> (Takara, Japan). The *GT1* and *GT259* PCR products were ligated into the pGEX 4T-1 plasmid. And the rest of GT PCR products were ligated into the pGEX 4T-3 plasmid. All ligation tubes were incubated at 16°C overnight. The recombinant plasmids were transformed into *E. coli* DH5 α cells by heat shock, and an aliquot was spread on a pre-warmed 90 mm LB agar plate containing 100 µg/mL of ampicillin. The plates were incubated at 37°C overnight [Ko, 2008; Miller et al., 1999; Lin et al., 2006]. The inserted fragment sizes of the positive recombinants were analyzed by PCR amplification using the vector-specific, pGEX 5 and pGEX 3, primers. The PCR products were resolved by agarose gel electrophoresis to determine the size of each product. Sequence analysis was performed



by using an ABI 3130 XL Genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster, USA). The obtained sequences were compared with sequence database using BLASTN and annotated on the basis of the exiting annotation of non-redundant databases at the NCBI. Sequence analyses of the GT genes were performed by using GENETYX-WIN Software Ver. 5.0 (Genetyx, Tokyo, Japan) and a ClustalW2 (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/clustalw2).

2.6. Comparison of the amino acid sequence and phylogenetic analysis

Multiple alignments of ten GT amino acid sequences were made using the program BioEdit software (Ver. 7.0.9.0, http://www.mbio.ncsu.edu/BioEdit/bioedit. html). The phylogenetic tree of GT genes were constructed using the neighbor-joining methods [Saitou and Nei, 1987] in Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis (MEGA) software (ver. 4.0, http://www.megasoftware.net/index.html) [Tamura et al., 2007].

2.7. Expression and biotransformation of glucosyltransferases

Full-length cDNAs encoding ten GT genes were cloned into bacterial GST expression vector pGEX4T-1 and pGEX4T-3 (Amersham Biosciences/GE Healthcare, UK) to create in frame fusions at the 5' terminus with the GST coding sequence. Inserted genes were sequenced to confirm their gene sequence and correct reading frame. To express fusion protein, BL21 (DE3) *E. coli* cells were used. Transformants were selected on LB containing ampicillin (AMP) plates and were grown overnight in 5 ml of LB medium at 37°C and 2 ml of the cultured cells were used to inoculate 20 ml of LB-AMP fresh medium. The culture was grown until absorbance at 600 nm reached 0.6~0.7. At this point, IPTG (isopropyl-1-



thio- β -D-galactopyranoside) was added at a final concentration of 0.1mM, and the transformants was grown for 5 hours at 25°C. The cells were harvested and washed with PBS buffer (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na₂PO₄, 2 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 7.4), resuspended in the lysis buffer (1X PBS, 1mM EDTA, 1mM DTT, 1mM PMSF, 1% TritonX-100) and lysed by sonication (5 sec pulse, 30 sec resting for 1 min, on ice) [Kim et al., 2006B; Noguchi et al., 2008, Hong et al., 2007]. After sonication, the samples were centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. The supernatant and pellet were analyzed by SDS-PAGE (polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) for solubility of the fusion protein.

For the biotransformation assays, the cells were harvested and resuspended in half volume of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) containing 1 % glucose. Substrates (Quercetin and Naringenin) were added 30 μ M at each culture and the sample was incubated at 28°C for 12 hr. The supernatant was collected and was extracted twice with ethyl acetate. Then, the ethyl acetate extract was evaporated completely and the pellet was dissolved in methanol [Kim, 2005; Kim, 2007; Kim, 2006C; Lin, 2006].

2.8. Analysis of flavonoids with high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

The reaction products were analyzed using a HPLC (Ultimate 3000, dionex, Idstein, Germany) equipped with a photo diode array (PDA) detector and a Luna C18(2) column (5 µm particle size, 4.6 mm X 250 mm, Phenomenex, Torrance, CA, USA). For analytical scale, the mobile phase consisted of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 3.0) and was programmed as follows: 20 % acetonitrile at 0 min, 40 % acetonitrile at 10 min, 70 % acetonitrile at 25 min, 100 % D.W at 30 min, 100 % D.W at 35 min, 20 % acetonitrile at 40 min. The flow rate was 1 ml/min and UV detection was performed at 270 nm.



3. Results

3.1. Total RNA extraction of GT

Total RNAs were extracted from flowers, young fruits, stems, and leaves as previously described. The concentration and purity of the total RNA was determined by measuring the absorbance at 260nm (A_{260}) and 280nm (A_{280}) in a spectrophotometer (Table 2). Integrity was determined running the total RNA (3ug) in a formaldehyde gel stained with ethidium bromide. Formaldehyde gel electrophoresis of total RNA showed Figure 3.

Table 2. Absorbance measurement of total RNA samples.

	Concentration (ug/ul)	260/280 (O/D)
Flower	1.005	2.01
Leaf	2.647	1.96
Stem	0.401	2.01
Fruit	2.46	2.01



Figure 3. Formaldehyde gel electrophoresis of C. reticulata total RNA. Total RNA isolated

from flower, leaf, stem and fruit using PureLink RNA mini kit (Invitrogen).

lane 1, Flower; lane 2, Leaf; lane 3, Stem; lane 4, Fruit.



3.2. cDNA cloning and phylogenetic analysis of GT

cDNAs were synthesized from the total RNA of citrus leaf and PCR was carried out with cDNA as template and specific primers. PCR products were separated on agarose gel. DNA band of expected size was observed in the gel after staining with ethidium bromide (Figure 4). DNA in the band was extracted from the gel and ligated into the pGEX expression vector. Colony containing target gene was identified by colony PCR with pGEX primers. Purified plasmids were used for analysis of gene sequence.



Figure 4. The results of agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR products. (A) lane 1; *GT150*, lane 2; *GT1669*, lane 3; *GT259*, lane 4; *GT285*, lane 5; *GT173*, lane 6; *GT2282*, lane 7; *GT3363*, and lane 8; *GT3591* (*B*) lane 1; *CiGT1* and lane 2; *CiGT2*.



Each of the genes concerning nucleic acid and amino acid were described table 3 and Supplementary data

Gene name	nucleic acid	amino acid
GT150	1377bp	458aa
GT1669	1428bp	475aa
GT259	1410bp	469aa
GT285	1422bp	473aa
GT173	1365bp	454aa
GT2282	1467bp	488aa
GT3363	1491bp	496aa
GT3591	1473bp	490aa
CiGT1	1431bp	477aa
CiGT2	951bp	317aa

Table 3. Each GT gene of nucleic acid and amino acid size, respectively.

Figure 5 shows the Clustal W alignment of the deduced amino acid sequences of glucosyltransferase family. Among the sequences, the highest amino acid sequence similarity (80%) was observed between *GT2282* and *GT3591*. The greatest level of dissimilarity (13%) was observed between *GT150* and *CiGT2*.



GT150 GT1669 GT259 GT285 GT173 GT2282 GT3363 GT3591 CiGT1	GT150 GT1669 GT259 GT285 GT173 GT282 GT3363 GT3591 CiGT1 CiGT2	GT150 GT1669 GT259 GT285 GT173 GT2282 GT3363 GT3591 CiGT1 CiGT2	GT150 GT1669 GT259 GT285 GT173 GT2282 GT3363 GT3591 CiGT1 CiGT2	GT150 GT1669 GT259 GT285 GT173 GT2282 GT3363 GT3591 CiGT1 CiGT2	GT150 GT1669 GT259 GT285 GT173 GT2282 GT3363 GT3591 CiGT1 CiGT2	GT150 GT1669 GT259 GT285 GT173 GT2282 GT3363 GT3591 CiGT1 CiGT2
RE F KRA LSA FKA KRA KRA KRA KKS	CQL VPL AMI VVM VPM VQM VQM NPM	I LG A TG A SG A AA G LG G LG G LG G LG V YG A RG	I EG LEP LEG LDP LES LES LES LES LEG	V LL ASN VAD VSF AHL CLH CLV CLD SFH VYV	L P S L P E P P G S P - L P E L P E L P E L P E L P R V D D	M M M - MA
LIS VEN VTS VES LDE LEE VNK	VLL VTW LAW LTW VCR LTW LTW LTW	FEL LEA LEA LEA LEA LEA LEA	A Y C A Y A E Y S V Y I I V V F C I E Y V P C I E Y V F C I E T L	SPECLA YCW VMW DSD LLG NLH ILR CIP YYF	G T E G C E D H P G F N	SSSS AAC MAS SEC MAS - ME
P 6 D 6 D 6 D 6 C 6 C 6 C 6 C 6 C 6	PN /PV /PM /PM /PL /PL /PL /PL	T G S G T D S K S K S K S G	D H D H E D K E C K K K	R K L V I I I I V S I T S V S D I N G	TT NL NF NF R- ISK	NT PP EA RC QQ
490 LET SSN SSS SSS SSS SSS SSS SSS	410 V G U S A I E A U F A U F A U F G U F A U	330 L P R N I R V D F P K P K P K P K P K P K P	250 V E V R I L K I M K I V K I V K I V K I I R I I D I	170 L R I E P I I G I L P R E K V I K V I K V I K V I I D 7 Y G I	SNI DA GNI DL DM DM	10 K K R T Q R Q Q S E Q Q D H Q Q
Y S C A R C D R C D R C F K P Y N P S L N Y N P		FFV FIV FVV FIV FIV FIV	S Q I KA I KA I S R I KA I KA I KA I KA I KA I		V P I T P - V I - V I - V L P - L - L - L - L - L - L - L - L - L - L	TH I AHM RHY SHI AHI FHI VHY
		VAL VAV VVV VSF VVI VVI VVI VVI VVI	- E - G - G - G - G - C - Q - C - Q - C			I L I V L V V V I I L L V L V L I L V L I L V L I L
G F A L D F A L L F L L R L	S R E K Q R E K E K S R	K P K T R C C R R P R P R R P	K R R R R K K R P N	E A S D D - S D S D S D I K K V	- F NK GNT - E SN SI PD TH	FP FP LP LP LP LP LP
VQ IE VE IR VE IQ IQ VN	LM MV LL II LI LI FV	PT GM PD ES GN C K R	VI AW VF VW VW VW VW		P L E L R L P V D L D L K F	WFM YPFFL FL FL FP
E L E L E L R I I V D I D I D I D I	120 GEI VEI VEI VE VE VE VE	140 G - ND I - E - N - I S P -	LA HI GV CI CL SI AI	L Q A E D	HP HP K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K	AM AH AC FS AP AQ AQ AQ IQ
H S R L R N R N R S F M Q K M		G G K R H K L K K G K	G P G P G P G P G P G P G P G P G P		LLF FF FL-FF LF FK	G H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H
LA SR LH LK T- QP QP MS	KV KV GV GI RI RI KL	H D C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	V LS V S V S V S V S V S V S V L V L V	- P P V V V V V V V F F L I	H M T K M T K A L N F K A L N F K A R R	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I
D I H Q S G H S G H S S Q	SV SV SV SV SV SV SV SV	T I G K Q D L E I Q L E N	PELV PPLT LC LC AH	P VM F F L I V V I L	AM AL LR SL SL SS SS	S V P L P L P M P M S M S S
S S S K N Q K D H I E V I P Q I	4 G V I G V I G V I G V I G V I S V I S V I S V I D I I	3 E S F E D F C G E E K W E W K W Q	P P P N RI G - D D I S P I N KI N KI N KI	I P H P D P R E S P G P G P G T V P G	D L T K G K E L I G N T L Q K C A	LH VDI LD FD LN LQ
10 L T - 2 H 2 H V C		SO NL SM VL QL LV LV		90 · > p P	10 TELH LH FV LQ LQ LQ TP LQ	IS IS IS IS IS IS IS IS IS IS IS IS
A V I D (V L E D V F V S I I D I D I D I D I D G K	1 1 1 1 1 P L	PA EP PA EP LP LP LP EL	N K L Q R R L L R R L L R R
× 1	P L P L P L P L P L P L P L P L P L P L	- GGGGGGNKNE-	E E A T M P A A V K E Q	S E Y C F H Q H E G		
	G - R I K - K F K F K F	EEEELKEEEL	E F R G C R G C R G C R G C R G C R G C R G C R C R	I K I K P V S S I Q I E E G F R D	A I Q L D W K A N L N L N L E M	E R S R L T L E A R Q R Q H A R I
	V G G E G E	RV RV RV RT RI RV RI RI	EN GD GC GC GC GC GC SC GD	L R F K F T F T F T L R	VR FR FE FR VA FE FR VS R	GH GV DL GL GA GA GA GA GA GA
	440 . E E E E E E E E	360 KG PG KG KG KG	280 F QA PG SS KA KA KA SS LC	200 AHRN RR KV KV CR S	IZO DI SQ SH KT RQ EQ SE G	40 KI KA DI EE IV AI TA KI RV
	к I К I К I	R G R G R G R G R G R G R G R G R G R G	S I S I S I A I Q N		K P S L T L T P S C C	S F S V T V E V T I T I T I T F
	- D D 	FV LI VV VV LL LL LL	D V P M D V D V D I V K I S S	P C P C P C P C P C P C P C P C P C P C	P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	I L I T I T V T V T V T V T L N
) F \ / L \ / L \		L ND NP VP VS P S I E			
		C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	- E I - E I - E I - E I - E I			
	450 - L F T R E H V P C I P E C K E C K E C K E C	370 NV0 NA NA NA NA NA NA	290 - C L I V T I C L I C L I C L I C L I C M V M I		130 VFI VA(LS(IS(IS(IS(IS(IS(IS(VY)	
				KI KE LI P P I S		
		VL VS VA VL VL VL	LD: LD: LD: LD: LD: LD: LD: LD: LD:		FT FL FL CFL CFL CFL CFL CFL CFL CFL CFL	FEI USI SNC FK FK VII
	G K A F A F A F A F A F A F A F A F A F A F			5 G I 5 F S 5 D V 5 F F 5 F S 5 F S	/ WI 2 W/ 2 W/ 2 W/ 2 W/ 2 W/ 2 W/ 2 W/ 2 W/	
	460 / K A M V A E A C 2 V L M D M D L		300 < S L < S	220 FME LLK FVK LHF GE FGE FDE LFA		60 HKH RAN NH P ME K RAI RAN RAL DAF
	G S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S			R L CD C KN Q I K I K I K I		I I E N I S T I S T
		FVFL				G L G L C R L C R L
	D S A E R D R C R C R C R C R C R C R C R C R C R C	T + T + T + T + T + T + T +				LV EL SL SL VQI QI VN
	E V E W R E R M R M R N R V R E F		SE SQ RR SV SI SI SI SI TI		R I R I R I R I R I R I R I R I R I R I	R L R L R L
	470 GKS KI RL RR RK RK KE	390 S G W N W N W N W N W N W N	310 C V V N K A V V C N C N C V C V	230 C D S V S W S W A T T V S V T V A D D P	150 AFVFAF VFAVF SFIF VFLL	70 I P K T L V C K I E I E F G
	DAI RAI KAI KAI RAI RAI SAI	⊥ 2 5	L K F T L K I T L P L T L T L T L T L T L T	A I G A G C G I G I G I G I G I G I G I C C I G I C I C I C I C I C I C	VT FS SP HG HG RT WL	IT IK LP IV IQ IQ IQ IQ IQ IQ IQ
	QN CAL CEL EEF CEF CEF	SEA LEC LEC LEC LEC LEC	KDC SAC RDC RDC SSC SSC RDC KRC	- 	ISP SGA SGA FSC FSC FSC ISA	/ P - F P S F P S
	G E E E	M V V S I V S I S S I S S I S S I S		<pre>< T C N S F N S F N S F N S F N T F N T F N T F N T F</pre>	A T F F S V L L A F A C F C C F C C F C A C A	
		X	X0 - 			

Figure 5. Alignments of the deduced amino acid sequences of GT genes isolated from Citrus. The box indicates the conserved region among plant secondary product glucosyltransferase (PSPG) box.





						10									20								3	80								40			
		6 R (•		•	• [•	•	• •		•	•	•	•	1	•	• •	•	1	•	•	÷	•	Ľ.	•		•	1	•		•	1	•		• •
GT150	WVQ	QQC	2 L	I	L	KH	Ρ	S 1	/ G	C	F	V	Т	н	C	G :	S G	S	L	S	E	A	M	VI	NE	C	Q	L	V	LL	Ρ	N	V	G D	Q
GT1669	WA P	Q1	L	I	LI	DH	E	A I	/ G	G	F	V	Т	н	C	G١	NN	S	Т	L	E	A	V	A	10	iV	P	L	V	TW	P	۷	S/	A E	Q
GT259	WA P	Q1	/S	I	L	s H	K	A I	/G	G	F	L	S	н	C	G١	NN	S	L	L	Ε	G	I	V	G C	i A	M	I	L	AW	P	М	E /	A D	Q
GT285	WSQ	201	A	I	L	RH	K	A١	/ G	A	F	L	Т	н	C	G١	NN	S	V	L	E	G	V	s /	10	iv	V	M	L	TW	P	M	D	A C	Q
GT173	WA P	QI	L K	I	L	ΕH	S	S 1	10	V	F	V	Т	н	C	G١	NN	S	Т	I	Ε	G	I	T	5 G	iv	P	M	V	CR	P	V	F/	A D	Q
GT2282	WA P	Q1	L	I	L	S H	P	A I	/G	G	F	L	Т	н	C	G	NN	S	S	L	Е	G	I	s /	10	iv	Q	M	L	TW	P	L	F /	A D	Q
GT3363	WA P	'QI	L	I	L	S H	P	S I	G	G	F	L	Т	н	C	G١	NN	S	S	L	E	A	I	s /	10	iv	P	M	I	TW	P	L	F (G D	Q
GT3591	WA P	PQ1	M	I	L	S H	P	A١	/ G	G	F	L	Т	н	C	G١	NN	S	S	L	Ε	G	I	s /	10	iv	Q	Μ	L	TW	P	L	F	G D	Q
CiGT1	WVP	QE	EE	V	L	AH	S.	A I	I G	G	F	L	Т	H	C	GV	NN	S	Т	L	E	S	I	V	10	iN	1 P	M	I	CW	P	S	F/	A C	Q
	*	*			*		*				*		100	*	*	*		*			*										*				*

Figure 6. PSPG-box consensus sequence of Citrus glucosyltransferases. Highly conserved amino acids were indicated star mark.

PSPG-box of the derived amino acid sequences of the nine putative glucosyltransferase clones from *C. reticulate* cv. Siranui were shown in Figure 6. The *CiGT2* did not have PSPG box.

The phylogenetic tree of nine Citrus GT based on PSPG box is shown in Figure 7. The minimum value of similarity between group I and group II was about 59%, group II and group III was about 45%, and group I and III was about 43%. In Group I, the level of similarity between *CiGT1* and *GT173*, except *CiGT2* that did not contain PSPG box, was over 61%. A higher degree of similarity of group II was 65% and low degree of similarity of group II was 40%. A level of similarity in group III was range from 65% to 86%.





Figure 7. Phylogenetic analysis of family *GT*



3.3. Expression of the GST-GT fusion protein

E.coli (DE3) rosetta2 cells were transformed with pGEX 4T-1/*CiGT1* plasmid and induced with IPTG. The cells produced a protein of around 78kDa (GST-*CiGT1* fusion protein) that was absent in non-induced cells expression of *CiGT1* fusion protein was induced at different IPTG concentration and 0.1mM IPTG concentration was the best concentration (Figure 8). As shown in Figure 9, fusion protein expression was tested at different temperature and time. When induced at 25°C for 5 h, the soluble protein reached the highest level.





Figure 8. Expression of *CiGT1* fusion protein at different IPTG concentration. M, Protein Marker; 1, Uninduced lysate; 2, Induced lysate, 0.1mM IPTG. 3, Uninduced lysate; 4, Induced lysate, 1mM IPTG. S : Supernatnat, P : Pellet. The arrow indicates the expected protein band in 78kDa



Figure 9. Expression of *CiGT1* fusion protein at different temperature and induction time. M, protein marker; lane 2-8, Uninduced *E.coli* lysate ; lane 3-9, Induced at 25° C for 4hr; lane 4-10; Induced at 25° C for 5hr ; lane 5-11, Induced at 18° C for 10hr; lane 6-12, Induced at 18° C for 12hr ; S : Supernatnat, P : Pellet. The arrow indicates the expected protein band in



78kDa

GT150, 1669, 285, 173, 2282, 3363, 3591, and *CiGT2* were inserted into pGEX 4T-3 expression vector for protein expression and *GT259, CiGT1* were inserted into pGEX 4T-1. Recombinant protein expression resulted in the production of fusion proteins of the mass described below (Table 4).

Gene name	protein mass	molecular weight
GT150	50.3kDa	76kDa
GT1669	52.2kDa	78kDa
GT259	51.5kDa	77kDa
GT285	52kDa	78kDa
GT173	49.9kDa	75kDa
GT2282	53.6kDa	79kDa
GT3363	54.5kDa	80kDa
GT3591	59.1kDa	84kDa
GT1	52.4kDa	78kDa
GT2	34.8kDa	60kDa

Table 4. Predicted recombinant proteins weight of GT genes



3.4. Biotransformation of naringenin and quercetin with GT

The *E.coli* transformants expressing GT were grown and incubated with each of naringenin and quercetin, as substrates in order to investigate the substrate specificity of the enzyme. Flavonoid compounds used in this experiment could enter into *E.coli* and then, be modified by the expressed protein. Figure 10 showed the protein expression pattern. The box indicated *GT285* and the arrow indicated expected protein band

GT285 was tested with naringenin and quercetin as substrates (Figure 11). The cells expressing *GT285* produced new products from both of naringenin and quercetin. New products were determined as naringenin 7-O-glucoside and quercetin 3-O-glucoside, respectively. *GT285* transformed all of the quercetin used as substrate to quercetin 3-O-glucoside and showed about half activity for naringenin, compared to quercetin. This result indicated that *GT285* more effectively transferred a glucose molecule to the 3-hydroxyl group than 7-hydroxy group.



Figure 10. Expression of *GT285* recombinant protein. M, Molecular weight marker. The box indicated *GT285* and the arrow indicates expected protein band



Figure 11. HPLC analysis of *GT285* with naringenin and quercetin (A) HPLC analysis of standard of naringenin (S1), (B) Reaction product of naringenin (P1), (C) Standard of naringenin 7-O-glucoside (S2), (D) Standard of quercetin (S3), (E) Reaction product of quercetin (P2), (F) Standard of quercetin 3-O-glucoside (S4)



In case of GT173, this protein showed sufficient transformation activity on quercetin, but only a detectable activity on naringenin (Figure 13). This result indicated that GT173 are more specific for quercetin than naringenin, compared to GT285.

Figure 12 showed the protein expression pattern. The box indicated *GT173* and the arrow indicated expected protein band



Figure 12. Expression of *GT173* recombinant protein. M, Molecular weight marker. The box indicated *GT173* and the arrow indicated expected protein band





Figure 13. HPLC analysis of *GT173* with naringenin and quercetin (A) HPLC analysis of standard of naringenin (S1), (B) Reaction product of naringenin (P1), (C) Standard of naringenin 7-O-glucoside (S2), (D) Standard of quercetin (S3), (E) Reaction product of quercetin (P2), (F) Standard of quercetin 3-O-glucoside (S4)



GT3363 showed almost equally sufficient activity on both naringenin and quercetin (Figure 15) demonstrating this protein was related to produce naringenin 7-O-glucoside and quercetin 3-O-glucoside. Figure 14 showed the protein expression pattern. The box indicated *GT3363* and the arrow indicated expected protein band



Figure 14. Expression of *GT3363* recombinant protein. M, Molecular weight marker. The box indicated *GT3363* and the arrow indicated expected protein band





Figure 15. HPLC analysis of *GT3363* with naringenin and quercetin (A) HPLC analysis of standard of naringenin (S1), (B) Reaction product of naringenin (P1), (C) Standard of naringenin 7-O-glucoside (S2), (D) Standard of quercetin (S3), (E) Reaction product of quercetin (P2), (F) Standard of quercetin 3-O-glucoside (S4)



In case of GT2282, reaction product showed only a detectable activity on naringenin, but not quercetin. It is possible for this enzyme to have the other substrates modified. Further study needs to identify the correct substrate of this enzyme. Figure 16 showed the protein expression pattern. The box indicated GT2282 and the arrow indicated expected protein band



Figure 16. Expression of *GT2282* recombinant protein. M, Molecular weight marker. The box indicated *GT2282* and the arrow indicated expected protein band





Figure 17. HPLC analysis of *GT2282* with naringenin and quercetin (A) HPLC analysis of standard of naringenin (S1), (B) Reaction product of naringenin (P1), (C) Standard of naringenin 7-O-glucoside (S2), (D) Standard of quercetin (S3), (E) Reaction product of quercetin , (F) Standard of quercetin 3-O-glucoside (S4)



Similar to *GT2282* and *GT3591* were only determined to glucosylate naringenin, producing its 7-O-glucoside. In fact, *GT2282* and *GT3591* were classified as the same group (Group III, Figure 6). These two genes were showed as very close genes because they have about 80% similarities between amino acid sequences in full-length and above 95% similarities in PSPG box region. Figure 18 showed the protein expression pattern. The box indicated *GT3591* and the arrow indicated expected protein band



Figure 18. Expression of *GT3591* recombinant protein. M, Molecular weight marker. The box indicated *GT3591* and the arrow indicated expected protein band





Figure 19. HPLC analysis of *GT3591* with naringenin and quercetin (A) HPLC analysis of standard of naringenin (S1), (B) Reaction product of naringenin (P1), (C) Standard of naringenin 7-O-glucoside (S2), (D) Standard of quercetin (S3), (E) Reaction product of quercetin , (F) Standard of quercetin 3-O-glucoside (S4)



Amino acid homology between GT259 and GT285 were about 65% in PSPG box (Group II) and about 38% in full length sequence. Different from the GT285 that showed activities on both substrate, however GT259 was only determined to glucosylate quercetin. But interestingly, GT259 was not modification 3-O-site, suggesting the other site could be glucosylated (Figure 21). These results suggest that these two gene product share some common substrates, but that have different preference on modification site. Figure 20 showed the protein expression pattern. The box indicated GT259 and the arrow indicated expected protein band



Figure 20. Expression of *GT259* recombinant protein. M, Molecular weight marker. The box indicated *GT259* and the arrow indicated expected protein band





Figure 21. HPLC analysis of *GT259* with naringenin and quercetin (A) HPLC analysis of standard of naringenin (S1), (B) Reaction product of naringenin, (C) Standard of naringenin 7-O-glucoside (S2), (D) Standard of quercetin (S3), (E) Reaction product of quercetin (P2), (F) Standard of quercetin 3-O-glucoside (S4)



CiGT1, CiGT2, GT150, and *GT1669* were tested with naringenin and quercetin as substrates. These four gene product did not show any activities on both naringenin and quercetin (data not shown). *CiGT1, CiGT2,* and *GT150* were involved in Group I, suggesting this group may have the other substrate in plant. In this study, did not clearly confirm the extent of protein expression and protein solubility. Further study needs to identify real substrates for these genes.



4. CONCLUSION

In this study, a novel ten full-length glucosyltransferase (GT) genes, *GT150*, *GT1669*, *GT259*, *GT285*, *GT173*, *GT2282*, *GT3363*, *GT3591*, *CiGT1*, and *CiGT2* were isolated from *Citrus reticulate* cv. Siranui. Eight genes of the GT family were searched from the *C. platymamma* Hort. ex. Tanaka (Byungkyool) genomic DNA library database. *CiGT1* and *CiGT2* genes were based on the EST sequences of NCBI. The partial glucosyltransferase nucleotide sequences were obtained from the searches in the EST databases of the Citrus Genetic Resources Bank and used as query.

A phylogenetic tree based on PSPG box of the family of glucosyltransferases from *C. reticulate* cv. Siranui showed that *CiGT1*, *CiGT2*, and *GT 173* consist of group I, *GT259*, 285, and 150, group II, and *GT1669*, 3363, 3591, and 228, group III.

To confirmed activity of GT, transformation assay were performed with naringenin and quercetin as substrates. Three of genes (*GT173, 285,* and *3363*) were found to have function as both flavonoid 7-O-glucosyltransferase and flavonoid 3-O-glucosyltransferase. Compared to *GT285* and *GT3363, GT173* showed only a detectable activity on naringenin. *GT2282* and *GT3591* were determined to glucosylate naringenin, producing its 7-O-glucoside.

Interestingly, *GT259* could glucosylate quercetin but its modification was not 3-O site, suggesting the other site could be glucosylated. On the other hand, *GT150*, *GT1669*, *CiGT1*, and *CiGT2* did not transfer glucose to two flavonoid substrates in this study. For these four genes, further study need to identify their substrate.

This research will increase our insight for the mechanism of glucosylation of flavonoid and contribute the understanding of glucosylation in Citrus.



5. REFERENCES

Akio Noguchi, Nobuhiro Sasaki, Masahiro Nakao, Harukazu Fukami, Seiji Takahashi, Tokuzo Nishino, Toru Nakayama. (2008). cDNA cloning of glycosyltransferases from Chinese wolfberry (*Lycium barbarum* L.) fruits and enzymatic synthesis of a catechin glucoside using a recombinant enzyme (UGT73A10). J. Molecular Catalysis. 55: 84-92

Angela Rubio Moraga, Almudena Trapero Mozos, Oussama Ahrazem and Lourdes Gomez-Gomez. (2009) Cloning and characterization of a glucosyltransferase from Crocus sativus stigmas involved in flavonoid glucosylation. J. BMC Plant Biology. 9: 109

Brouillard R, Dangles O. (1993) Flavonoids and flower Colour. In JB Harborne, ed. The Flavonoid Advances in Research Since 1986. Chapman and Hall, New Yor. 565-588

Byoung Seok Hong, Jeong Ho Kim, Na Yeon Kim, Bong-Gyu Kim, Youhoon Chong and Joong-Hoon Ahn. (2007) Characterization of Uridine-Diphosphate Dependent Flavonoid Glucosyltransferase from *Oryza sativa*. J. Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. 40(6): 870-874

Claire M.M. Gachon, Mathilde Langlois-Meurinne and Patrick Saindrenan. (2005) Plant secondary metabolism glycosyltransferases: the emerging functional analysis. J. TRENDS in Plant Science. 10(11)





Daniel K. Owens, Cecilia A. McIntosh. (2009) Identification, recombinant expression, and biochemical characterization of a flavonol 3-O-glucosyltransferase clone from *Citrus paradise*. J.Phytochemistry. 70: 1382-1391

Dae Hwan Kim, Bong-Gyu Kim, Youngshim Lee, Ji Young Ryu, Yoongho Lim, Hor-Gil Hur, Joong-Hoon Ahn. (2005) Regiospecific methylation of naringenin to ponciretin by soybean *O*-methyltrnasferase expressed in Escherichia coli. J. Biotechnology. 119: 155-162

Eng-Kiat Lim. (2005) Plant Glycosyltransferases: Their Potential as Novel Biocatalysts. J. Chemistry Eur. 11: 5486-5494

Goro Taguchi, Takahisa Ubukata, Nobuaki Hayashida, Hirobumi Yamamoto, and Mitsuo Okazaki. (2003) Cloning and characterization of a glucosyltransferase that reacts on 7-hydroxyl group of flavonol and 3-hydroxyl group of coumarin from tobacco cells. J. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. 420: 95-102

Harborne JB. (1976) Functions of Flavonoids in plants. In: Goodwin TW ed. Chemistry and Biochemistry of plant pigments. J. Academic Press. 1: 736-779

Heller W, Forkmann G. (1993) Biosynthesis of Flavonoids. In: Harborne JB ed.. The Flavonoids- Advances in research since 1986. J. Chapman and Hall. 499-535

Jae Hyung Ko, Bong Gyu Kim, Jeong Ho Kim, Hojung Kim, Chae Eun Lim, Jun Lim, Chan Lee, Yoongho Lim, Joong-Hoon Ahn. (2008) Four glucosyltransferases from rice : cDNA cloning, expression, and characterization. J. Plant Physiology. 165: 435-444



Jane Hughes and Monica A. Hughes. (1994) Multiple secondary plant product UDP-glucose glucosyltransferase gene expressed in cassava (*Manihot esculenta* Crantz) cotyledons. J. Sequencing and Mapping. 5: 41-49

Jeong Ho Kim, Bong Gyu Kim, Younghee Park, Jae Hyung Ko, Chae Eun Lim, Jun Lim, Yoongho Lim and Joong-Hoon Ahn. (2006A) Characterization of Flavonoid 7-*O*-Glucosyltransferase from Arabidopsis thaliana. J. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 70(6): 1471-1477

Jeong-Ho Kim, Bong Gyu Kim, Jae Hyung Ko, Youngshim Lee, Hor-Gil Hur, Yoongho Lim, Joong-Hoon Ahn. (2006B) Molecular cloning, expression and characterization of a flavonoid glycosyltransferase from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J. Plant Science 170: 897-903

Jeong Ho Kim, Bong Gyu Kim, Jae Ah Kim, Younghee Park, Yoon Jung Lee, Yoongho Lim, and Joong-Hoon Ahn. (2007) Glycosylation of flavonoids with *E.coli* expressing glycosyltransferase from *Xanthomonas campestris*. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 17(3): 539-542

Ji Hye Kim, Kwang Hee Shin, Jae Hyoung Ko, and Joong-Hoon Ahn. (2006C) Glucosylation of Flavonols by *Escherichia coli* Expressing Glucosyltransferase from Rice (*Oryza sativa*). J. Bioscience and Bioengineering. 2: 135-137

Joe Ross. (2001) Higher plant glycosyltransferases. J. Genone Biology. 2(2): 3004.1-3004.6

Julian Castillo, Obdulio Benavente, and Jose A. del Rio. (1991) Naringin and Neohesperidin Levels during Development of Leaves, Flower Buds, and Fruits of Citrus aurantium. J. Plant Physiol. 99: 67-73





Keith D. Miller, Virginie Guyon, Jeremy N.S. Evans, Wendy A. Shuttleworth, and Loverine P. Taylor. (1999) Purification, Cloning, and Heterologous Expression of a Catalytically Efficient Flavonol 3-O-Galactosyltransferase Expressed in the Male Gametophyte of *Petunia hybrid*. J. Biological Chemistry. 274(48): 34011-34019

Li Tian, Jack W. Blount, Richard A. Dixon. (2006) Phenylpropanoid glycosyltransferases from osage orange (*Maclura pomifera*) fruit. J. Federation of European Biochemical Societies. 580: 6915-6920

Ling Lin, Xiping Wang & Yuejin Wang. (2006) cDNA Clone, fusion expression and purification of the novel gene related to ascorbate peroxidase from Chinese *wild Vitis pseudoreticulata* in *E.coli*. J. Molecular Biology. 33: 197-206

McIntosh CA. (1990) Biosynthesis of Naringin in Citrus paradise: Isolation, Purification, and Properties of a Flavanone-Specific 7-O-Glucosyltransferase and Characterization of Other Glucosyltransferase Activities in Grapefruit Seedlings. J. Phytochemistry. 29: 1533-1538

Mori AC, Nishino N, Enoki Tawata S. (1987) Antibacterial Activity and Mode of Action of Plant Flavonoids Against *Proteus vulgaris* and *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Phytochemistry 26: 2231-2234

Michae W. King (2011) http://supplementscience.org/antioxidants.html#top

Patrik Jones, Burkjard Messner, Jun-Ichiro Nakajima, Anton R. Schaffner, and Kazuki Saito.
(2003) UGT73C6 and UGT78D1, Glycosyltransferases Involved in Flavonol Glycoside
Biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J. Biological Chemistry 275(45): 43910-43918



Pedro M. Coutinho, Emeline Deleury, Gideon J. Davies and Bernard Henrissat. (2003) An
Evolving Hierarchical Family Classification for Glycosyltransferases. J. Mol. Biol. 328: 307-317

Saitou, N. and M. Nei. 1987. The neighbor-joining method: A new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. Mol. Biol. Evol. 4:406-425.

Sayaka Masada, Kazuyoshi Terasaka, Yukie Oguchi, Seiji Okazaki, Tunehiro Mizushima, and Hajime Mizukami. (2009) Functional and Structural Characterization of a Flavonoid Glucoside 1,6-Glucosyltransferase from *Catharanthus roseus*. J. Plant Cell Physiol. 50(8):1401-1415.

Sheryl A. Lazarus and Harold H. Schmitz. (2000) Dietary flavonoids may promote health, prevent heart disease. *California Agriculture* 54(5):33-39.

Tamura, K., J. Dudley, M. Nei, and S. Kumar. 2007. MEGA4: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis (MEGA) software version 4.0. Mol. Biol. Evol. 24:1596-1599.

Tapasree Roy Sarkar, Christy L. Strong, Mebrahtu B. Sibhatu, Lee M. Pike, and Cecilia A. McIntosh. (2007) Cloning, Expression and Characterization of a Putative Glucosyltransferase from Grapefruit (*Citrus Paradisi*) leaves. J. Concepts in Plant Metabolomics. 247-257

Thomas Vogt and Patrik Jones. (2000). Glycosyltransferases in plant natural product synthesis: Characterization of a supergene family. J. Trends Plant Science. 5(9): 380-386



38

Wink M. (1999) Functions of plant secondary metabolites and their exploitation in biotechnology. In Annual plant reviews, Vol. 3. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press.



SUPPLIMENTARY DATA

MEDKKLHIAM YPWFAMGHLT SYLHISNKLA ERGHKISFIL PTNTHTKFEP FNLHKHLVTF IPITVPCVDG LPSGTETTTD 90 100 110 120 130 140 150 160 VPFPLHPLLM TAMDLTEPAI EAIVRDIKPN IVFFDFTYWL PSLARKLGIK SIAFVTISPA TVGYLLSPER KLRDKVLTEA DLLQPPQGFP PSKIKLRAHE ARGLAAATVK DFGGLSFMER LLLCLTECDA IGFKTCREIE GAYCDYVESQ FEKRVILAGP 250 260 270 280 290 300 310 320 VLPEPPASVL EEEFEMLFSS FKAKSLIFCA LGSECVLKKD QFQELILGFE LTGLPFFAAL KPPTGHDTIE SALPEGFEDR VKGRGFVHGG WVQQQLILKH PSVGCFVTHC GSGSLSEAMV NECQLVLLPN VGDQIINSRL MGEDLKVGVE VERGDEDGLF TRDGVCKAVK AVMDDDSEVG KDARQNHAEL REFLISPGLE NSYVDGFVQE LHSLADIL≭

Supplementary Fig 1. The cDNA sequence and deduced amino sequence of *GT150* gene isolated from *Citrus reticulata* cv. Siranui.

10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 MAHGHMIPIV DMAKLFASRG VKASVITTPA NGPYVSKSVE RANEMGIELD VKTIKFPSVE AGLPEGCENL DAITNEVNKE 90 100 110 120 130 140 150 160 LIVKFVGATT KLHEPLEQLL RDHKPDCLVA DIFFPWATDA AAKFGIPRLV FHGTSFFSLC ASNCLALYEP HKNVSSDSEP 170 180 190 200 210 220 230 240 FVMPHFPDEI KLTRNQLPDF VKQDMGDNDF SRLLKAIDDS DLRSYGAAVN SFYELEPAYA DHYRKALGRR AWHIGPVSLC 250 260 270 280 290 300 310 320 NRNFEDKALR GKQASIDELE CLKWLNSKQP NSVVYVCFGS LVNFTSAQLM EIATGLEASG RNFIWAVRKN MNDGGEGGKE DWLPEGFEKR MEGKGLIIRG WAPQVLILDH EAVGGFYTHC GWNSTLEAVA AGVPLYTWPY SAEQFYNEKM YNEVLKIGVG YGIQK₩CRIY GDFYKREKIE KAYNEIMYGD RAEEMRSRAK ALGKMAKRAY ENGGSSYSDL SALIEELRLS RHQSS≭ Supplementary Fig 2. The cDNA sequence and deduced amino sequence of GT1669 gene

isolated from *Citrus reticulata* cv. Siranui.





10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 MSSSNTRTTH ILIFPYPAQG HMLPLLDLTH QLSLKDLDIT ILVTPKNLPI LSPLLDAHPA IKTLVLPFPS YPSIPPGIEN 90 100 110 120 130 140 150 160 VIELGNRGNY PIMTALGKLY DPIIDWFRSQ ANPHVAILSD FFLGWTLKLA HQLNIVRIAF FSSGWLLASV ADYCWHHIGD VKSLDVVEFP DLPRYPVFKR RHLPSMVRSY KESDPESQFV KDGNLANTSS WGCVFNSFDA LEGEYSDYLK RKWGHDRVFG VGPLSLYGLE STGGGDPGLG PNDHVTKWLD GCPDGSVVYV CFGSQKALKR DQMEALASGL EKSGIRFLWV VKTGMIGKGD DGYGSMPDGF EEQVAGRGLY LKGWAPQVSI LSHKAVGGFL SHCGWNSLLE GIVGGAMILA WPMEADQFVN AKLLVEDLGV AVQVCEGADS VPDSDELGKI IAESLSQRDE VKIKAKELRD DALAAVTSDG SSARDLDRLV EELRNLHAK* Supplementary Fig 3. The cDNA sequence and deduced amino sequence of GT259 gene isolated from Citrus reticulata cv. Siranui.

1020304050607080MSSSNTRTTHILIFPYPAQGHMLPLLDLTHQLSLKDLDITILVTPKNLPILSPLLDAHPAIKTLVLPFPSYPSIPPGIEN90100110120130140150160VIELGNRGNYPIMTALGKLYDPIIDWFRSQANPHVAILSDFFLGWTLKLAHQLNIVRIAFFSSGWLLASVADYCWHHIGD170180190200210220220230240VKSLDVVEFPDLPRYPVFKRRHLPSMVRSYKESDPESQFVKDGNLANTSSWGCVFNSFDALEGEYSDYLKRKMGHDRVFGVGPLSLVGLESTGGGDPGLGPNDHVTKWLDGCPDGSVVYVCFGSQKALKRDOMEALASGLEKSGIRFLWVVKTGMIGKGDDGYGSMPDGFEEQVAGRGLVLKGWAPQVSILSHKAVGGFLSHCGWNSLLEGIVGGAMILAWPMEADQFVNAKLLVEDLGV410420430440450SSARDLDRLVEELRNLHAK*480

Supplementary Fig 4. The cDNA sequence and deduced amino sequence of *GT285* gene isolated from *Citrus reticulata* cv. Siranui.





10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 MSEAAGSTOR RHVVILAFPF GTHAAPLLDL VRRLSEAALE EEVTFSFFST AQSNGSLFME KDELRDCKIV PYNVESGLPE 90 100 110 120 130 140 150 160 GFRFTGNPRE PVEHFLKATP GNFVRALEKA VAKTGLEISC LITDAFLWFA AEMAEEMRVP WIAYWTAGPR SLLAHLDSDI 170 180 190 200 210 220 230 240 IREIIGWNGP ENQTLESIPG FSSIRAKDLP EGIISGPLDS PFPIMLDKMG KTLPKATVVA INSYEELDPI VVETLKSRFR KFLNVGPSTL TSPPPVSDPH GCLPWLNEHE NASVIYISFG SMITPPRAEV IALAEALEAI GFPFLWSFRG NAEEQLPKGF LERTKSYGKV VLWAPQLKIL EHSSVCVFVT HCGWNSTIEG ITGGVPMVCR PVFADQALNQ RIIETAWGIG VGVEGEKFTK DETVNALKQV LSSEEGKRMR ENVGALKKLA FKAVESDGSS TKNFKALVEI VNRT*

Supplementary Fig 5. The cDNA sequence and deduced amino sequence of *GT173* gene isolated from *Citrus reticulata* cv. Siranui.

1011020MIPMEDTARLLAQRGAIVTIVTTPVNAARFKTVHARAIDSGMQIRLIEIQFPWQQAGLPE90100100110FERQTLKPCC113DMCFPWTVDTAAKFNVPRIIFHGFSCFCLFCLHLLGV90170ARFLNSLHMLQLPFENLFERQTLKPCC113DMCFPWTVDTAAKFNVPRIIFHGFSCFCLFCLHLLGV9190SDYFNIPGLPDHIQFTKVQLPISEQDDDFKELQEQIFAADKKTYGTIINTFEELESPCIEDYKKAKQEKV91<

Supplementary Fig 6. The cDNA sequence and deduced amino sequence of *GT2282* gene isolated from *Citrus reticulata* cv. Siranui.





10
MASEGRCQQA20
HFVLFPFLAQ30
GHMIPMIDIG30
RLLAONGAAI40
TIVTTPANAA50
RFKTVVARAM60
OSGLPLQLIE70
IOFPYQEAGI90
PEGSENFDML100
HSMDLLFNFF110
KSLTLLQLPL110
ENLLKELAPK120
PSCIVSDMCY140
PWTVDTAARF150
NIPRISFHGF160
SCFCLLCLYN170
LHTSKVHENV180
TSNSDYFVVP190
GLPDQIEMTK200
VQVPLMRENS210
KDFGELVLAA220
DMKSYGIIIN220
TFEELESEYV220
KEYKKTKGGK250
VWCLGPVSLC260
NKQDIDKAER270
GKKAAIDVSE270
CLNWLDSWPP280
NSVYVCLGS300
ICNLTSSOMI310
ELGLGLEASK310
KPFIWVIRGGNNTSKEIQEW260
LLEEKFEERV270
KGRGILILGW270
APQVLILSHP280
SIGGFLTHCG330
WSSLEAISA310
GVPMITWPLF320
GDQFCNEKLIVQVLNIGVRI
GVVVLNIGVRI240
GVEVPLDFGE260
EEEIGVLVKK270
EDVVKAINML360
MNEGGERENR370
RKRAREFQMM380
AKRATEETGS310
SSLMIKLLIQ490
DIMHOPHSDH
QHIDNA*500
HIDNA*510
S20520
S30540550
S50560

Supplementary Fig 7. The cDNA sequence and deduced amino sequence of *GT3363* gene isolated from *Citrus reticulata* cv. Siranui.

10110201101101203014050KTVLARALQCRLQIRLIEIQFPWQEAGLPE901001001101101201130140RLGIRLIEIQFPWQEAGLPE90101AYNFLASLQKLQLPFENLFREQTPQPCCIISDMCMPWTVDTAAKFNVPRIIFHGFSCFCLLCLDILR91170SEYFKVPGFPHHIEFTKVQLPISPPTDELKEFDEKILAADKKTYGVIINTFEELESASVKEYKNAKQGK9250XKESLDKVERGNKAAIDIPECLTWLDSQQPSSVVYVCLGSICNLTSSQLIELGLGLEASKKPFIWVTRVG91NKLEELEKWLVEENFEERIKGRGLLIRGWAPQVMILSHPAVGGFLTHCGWNSSLEGISAGVQMLTWPLFGDQFCNEKLIV925005105205305405505601000PTSEVM*500510520530540550560

Supplementary Fig 8. The cDNA sequence and deduced amino sequence of *GT3591* gene isolated from *Citrus reticulata* cv. Siranui.



10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 MEKQDHYHYA ILPLPAYGHY SSMLNLAELL GHAGIKITFL NTEHYYDRYI RHSSDAFSRY MQTPGFQFKT LTDGLPRDHP 90 100 110 120 130 140 150 160 RTPDKFPELV DSLNCATPPL LKEMVSDSKS PVNCIITDGY MSRAIDAARE VGVSIIYFRT ISACAFWSFH CIPDIIDAGE LPIKGTEDVD RLITTVPGME GFLRCRDLPS FCRVNDPMDP HLLLFARETR LSAHADGLIL NTFEDLEGPI LSQIRNHSCP NIYSIGPLNA HLKVRIPEKT YSSSSLWKID RSCMAWLDKQ PKQSVIYVSF GSIAVMSRDQ LIEFYYGLVH SKKNFLWVIR PDLISGKDGE NQIPEELLEA TKERGCIAGW VPQEEVLAHS AVGGFLTHCG WNSTLESIVA GMPMICWPSF ADQQINSRFV GEYWKLGLDI KDLCDRNIVE KTYNDLMVER KEEFMESADR MANLAKKSYN KGGSSYCNLD RLYNDIKMMS SQPQNC≭ Supplementary Fig 9. The cDNA sequence and deduced amino sequence of *CiGT1* gene isolated from Citrus reticulata cv. Siranui.

10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 MEQQQQPHFL LLTFPIQGHI NPSLQFARRL TRIGTRVTFA TAISAYRLMP NNPTAEDGLS FASFSDGYDD GFNSKQNDQT HFMSEFKRRS SEALAELITA SRNEGGOPFT CLYYPQLLIW AAEVARAYHL PSALLWLQPA LYFDYYYYF NGYGDLIEGK VNDLIELPGL PPLTGRDLPS FLDPRNSNDA YSFVLPSFKE QMEAIVEETD PRILVNTFDA LEAETLKAID KFNMIAIGPL VASALLDGKE QYGGDLCONS SIEYYMEWLS SKPKSSVIYV AFGTICVLEK RQVEEIARGL LDSGHPFLWV SREKRP* Supplementary Fig 10. The cDNA sequence and deduced amino sequence of *CiGT2* gene

isolated from Citrus reticulata cv. Siranui.



요약문

플라보노이드의 글라이코실레이션은 이차 대사물질의 복잡성에 관여하는 필수적 인 변환과정이고 천연물 생합성의 마지막 단계에서 발생하며, 플라보노이드의 안 정성과 수용성에 영향을 끼친다. 글루코실트렌스퍼라아제는 글리코실트렌스퍼라 아제의 한 멤버이고 글루코스를 수용체에 운반한다.

본 연구에서는, 한라봉으로부터 10개의 글루코실트렌스퍼라아제 유전자, *GT150*, *GT1669*, *GT259*, *GT285*, *GT173*, *GT2282*, *GT3363*, *GT3591*, *CiGT1*, *and CiGT*, 를 동정하 였다. 한라봉에서 추출한 total RNA로부터 싱글 cDNA를 합성 후, 유전자 특이 프 라이머와 PCR을 이용하여 8개의 유전자 (*GT150*, *GT1669*, *GT259*, *GT285*, *GT173*, *GT2282*, *GT3363*, *and GT3591*)를 분리하였다. *CiGT1*과 *CiGT2*는 reverse transcription (RT)-PCR을 이용하여 분리하였다. 완전장 GT cDNA는 클로닝 하였고, GST 재조 합 단백질을 합성하여 발현시켰으며, 이 재조합 단백질들의 효소활성은 플라보노 이드7-O-글리코사이드와 플라보노이드3-O-글리코사이드를 생산하는 전형적인 기 질인 naringenin과 quercetin을 이용하여 분석하였다. HPLC분석에 의하면, *GT173*, *285*와 *3363*은 naringenin과 quercetin에서 활성을 나타내는 것을 확인할 수 있었고, 각각의 반응 산물의 구조는 7-O-glucoside와 3-O-glucoside와 관련이 있다는 것을



45

확인하였다. GT285는 GT3363과 GT173에 비해 naringenin의 활성이 약하게 나타났 고, GT3591과 GT2282는 naringenin-7-O-glucoside와 관련이 있는 것을 확인하였다. 본 연구 결과에서 GT259는 흥미롭게도 quercetin을 기질로 하였을 때 3-Oglucoside가 아닌 다른 생산물을 생성하는 것을 확인할 수 있었다. 반면에, GT150, 1669, CiGT1, 그리고 CiGT2는 naringenin과 quercetin 기질에 활성이 없음을 확인하 였다. 이러한 결과들은 한라봉에서 분리한 각각의 GT 유전자들이 기질 특이성을 갖는다는 것을 보여주는 결과이다. 본 연구 결과를 기초로 추후에는 활성을 보이 지 않은 GT150, 1669, CiGT1, 그리고 CiGT2에 대해 kaempferol, anthocyanin 그리고 hesperidin과 같은 기질을 이용하여 플라보노이드 분석을 할 예정이다. 이러한 결과들은 앞으로 당합성 관련 유용 유전자의 유전정보 확보를 통한 생리 및 물질대사 기능 분석등의 결과 도출과 나아가 감귤 분자육종 및 고품질 감귤 생산의 기반을 확립하는데 큰 도움이 될 것이다.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

시리고 앙상하던 나뭇가지에 미약하나마 푸른 잎이 나고 꽃이 피게끔 도와주신 모든 분 들께 감사 드립니다. 2년이라는 대학원 생활을 통하여 많은 분들의 애정 어린 질책과 조 언 속에 더욱 성장할 수 있었습니다.

먼저, 포기하지 않는다면 원하는 바를 얻을 수 있다는 것을 몸소 보여주신 김재훈 교수 님께 깊은 감사의 뜻을 표합니다. 교수님께서 가르쳐주신 모든 가르침을 잊지 않고 앞으 로의 생활에 큰 밑거름으로 사용하겠습니다. 진심으로 감사합니다.

바쁘신 가운데 저의 졸업 논문을 맡아서 열과 성으로 심사해주신 류기중 교수님, 김소미 교수님께 감사 드립니다. 더불어 늘 관심을 가지고 지켜봐 주시는 생명공학과의 모든 교수님들께도 감사의 말씀을 전합니다.

논문이 완성되기까지 여러 방면으로 도움을 주신 단백질공학 실험실 멤버들, 특히 많은 면에서 도움을 주신 정성진 박사님과 진성범 박사님, 김용우 박사님, 정훈이, 이비, 관우, 미지, 보람이, 그리고 종현오빠, 한나, 유라, 보람이에게도 고마움을 표합니다. 도움을 많이 주신 부경환 박사님, 이도승 박사님, 승태오빠, 진규오빠, 선영이, 이지(지현이.ㅋ), 지남이, 멀리 있지만 항상 응원하고 보고 싶은 노냉(은형이), 그리고 생명공학과 선배들과 동기, 후배 여러분께도 고마움을 표합니다. 각자의 분야에서 건승 하시시길 진심으로 기원합니다.

언제나 내편이고 앞으로도 계속 함께할 굼비, 찐이 희소니, 킴수학선생님,(현지), 시봉이, 함덕이(+유비니) 에게도 고마움을 표합니다.

마지막으로, 변함없는 믿음과 사랑으로 저를 지켜봐 주신 아빠, 엄마, 오빠께 마음 깊이 감사하고 사랑합니다. 더불어 모든 가족 분들께도 감사의 마음을 전합니다. 지면을 통해서 일일이 언급을 하지 못했지만 그 동안 저를 아끼고 사랑해주신 모든

분들께 다시 한번 진심으로 감사 드립니다.

감사합니다.



47